IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLANT

vs.

NO.2007-IA-00909-SCT

LATISHA MCGEE, INDIVIDUALLY, AND ON BEHALF OF THE HEIRS OF LAURA WILLIAMS

APPELLEE

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED BY APPELLANT

PREPARED AND SUBMITTED BY:

J. Leray McNamara
Stephanie C. Edgar
Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A.
1076 Highland Colony Parkway
600 Concourse, Suite 100
Post Office Box 6020
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158
Telephone: (601) 856-7200

Facsimile: (601) 856-7626

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the statute of limitation for a wrongful death lawsuit is subject to the statute of limitation for the underlying tort? If so, whether the holding of *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc.*, 933 So. 2d 923 (Miss. 2006), is applicable to this case in light of its determination occurring after the death of the decedent, Laura Williams?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The decedent, Laura Williams, underwent a total abdominal hysterectomy at the University of Mississippi Medical Center ("UMMC") on September 1, 2004. R. at 21. During this surgery, UMMC physicians also removed a cancerous mass from Ms. Williams, who had been previously diagnosed with small bowel cancer. R. at 21. Six (6) days later, on September 7, 2004, Ms. Williams presented to the UMMC emergency department with complaints of abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting and a decreased appetite. R. at 23. Upon examination, it was discovered that a laparotomy sponge had been inadvertently left in Ms. Williams' abdomen during her September 1, 2004 operation at UMMC. *Id.* UMMC physicians discussed the presence of the laparotomy sponge with Ms. Williams, who consented to an exploratory laparotomy, which was performed on September 8, 2004. *Id.* During the surgery on September 8, 2004, the laparotomy sponge was removed. *Id.*

Appellee, Latisha McGee's allegations center upon a claim that UMMC breached the standard of care and thereby caused the death of Laura Williams on December 19, 2004. R. at 3. This alleged breach occurred, according to Ms. McGee's expert, during the total abdominal hysterectomy at UMMC on September 1, 2004. R. at 49. Ms. McGee alleges and her expert opinion supports the notion that the laparotomy sponge which was retained during the September 1, 2004 operation, "added to Ms. Williams' morbidity." *Id*.

Latisha McGee sent her notice of claim letter to UMMC on November 21, 2005, one year and approximately two months after the laparotomy sponge had been inadvertently left in Ms. Williams' abdomen during surgery. R. at 25. Ms. McGee has alleged that the retained sponge was the cause of the recurrence of cancer, which ultimately led to Ms. Williams' death on December 19, 2004. R. at 8.

As stated above, Ms. McGee did not send her notice of claim letter to UMMC, a political subdivision of the State of Mississippi, until November 21, 2005, over one full year after the laparotomy sponge was inadvertently left in Ms. Williams' abdomen. R. at 25. Ms. McGee filed her Complaint on February 21, 2006 and served it upon UMMC on June 6, 2006. R. at 3-14. Thereafter, on July 3, 2006, UMMC responded with a Motion for Summary Judgment premised upon the expiration of the statute of limitation. R. at 15. McGee filed her Response to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on November 30, 2006, which was supported by an expert opinion; however, neither the response nor the expert opinion presented the type of evidence required to overcome a motion for summary judgment. Supp. R. at 3. On January 16, 2007, UMMC filed its Reply to the Plaintiff's Response to Motion for Summary Judgment. R. at 42. On May 24, 2007, Honorable Circuit Judge Tomie T. Green entered an order denying UMMC's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and finding that the Mississippi Supreme Court's decision in Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc., 933 So. 2d 923 (Miss, 2006), was inapplicable to the facts in the case at bar due to the fact that Jenkins was decided subsequent to the decedent's December 19, 2004 death. R. at 50; R.E. at 3. It is this Order from which interlocutory appeal is sought.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As an initial matter, this interlocutory appeal presents no new or novel questions or law. Rather, it relates to the trial court's failure to properly apply the applicable law to the facts of this case. The statute of limitation for a wrongful death action, such as this lawsuit, begins to run on the date of the tortious injury, which leads to the death. *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc.*, 933 So.2d 923 (Miss. 2006). Also, no discovery rule exists within the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. *Caves v. Yarbrough*, No. 2006-CA-01857-SCT, slip op. at ¶ 32 (Nov. 1, 2007). Through expert testimony, the Appellee, Latisha McGee, has linked the alleged wrongful death to the laparotomy sponge which was retained on September 1, 2004. Pursuant to *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc.*, the statute of limitation began running on the date of the sponge retention, September 1, 2004, and expired on September 1, 2005, nearly three (3) months prior to UMMC's receipt of McGee's notice of claim letter. Further, case law is to be applied retroactively absent a clear statement that it is prospective.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appropriate standard of review for questions of law is *de novo*. Stephens v. Equitable Life Assur. Society of U.S., 850 So.2d 78 (Miss. 2003); ABC Mfg. Corp. v. Doyle, 749 So.2d 43 (Miss. 1999). Because an appeal regarding an issue involving the expiration of a statute of limitation involves a question of law, a *de novo* standard of review should be applied. Additionally, the denial of a motion for summary judgment is a question of law which requires a *de novo* review. University of Mississippi Medical Center v. Easterling, 928 So.2d 815 (Miss. 2006); Monsanto Company v. Hall, 912 So.2d 134 (Miss. 2005). Since the case at bar involves the denial of a motion for summary judgment, the issue in this appeal should be decided on a *de novo* basis.

V. ARGUMENT

1. WHETHER THE STATUTE OF LIMITATION FOR A WRONGFUL DEATH LAWSUIT IS SUBJECT TO THE STATUTE OF LIMITATION FOR THE UNDERLYING TORT?

Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-46-11 mandates that all lawsuits against the State of Mississippi and its political subdivisions, such as UMMC, must be commenced within one (1) year after the alleged negligence. Ms. McGee has alleged that UMMC was negligent in inadvertently leaving a laparotomy sponge within Laura Williams' abdomen on September 1, 2004. Based on Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11, Ms. McGee had until September 1, 2005 to commence her negligence claim against UMMC. Ms. McGee, however, waited until November 21, 2005 to send her notice of claim letter to UMMC. Thus, Appellee's underlying negligence claim is clearly barred by Miss. Code Ann. 11-46-11 and should, therefore, be dismissed with prejudice.

Also, the discovery rule is no longer of any help to Appellee pursuant to this Court's recent holding in Caves v. Yarbrough, No. 2006-CA-01857-SCT, slip op. at ¶ 32 (Nov. 1, 2007). In addition, due to the expiration of the statute of limitations on McGee's underlying negligence claim, the wrongful death claim also fails as a matter of law. In Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc., the Supreme Court entertained the precise issue presented by the case at bar, namely, "whether the statute of limitations for wrongful death lawsuits is subject to the statute of limitations for the underlying tort." 933 So. 2d 923, ¶ 6 (Miss. 2006). In the course of resolving this issue, the Court remarked, "Wrongful death claims must be based on a claim of some wrongful conduct which led

¹ Even if the discovery rule did apply to this claim, Laura Williams discovered the existence of the retained laparotomy sponge on September 7, 2004. Therefore, without the protection of *Caves v. Yarbrough*, the absolute latest that the statute of limitation would have expired is September 7, 2005, nearly three months before Appellee mailed her notice of claim correspondence to UMMC.

to the death. Each act of alleged wrongful conduct, whether an intentional or negligent act, has its own statute of limitations." *Id.*

According to Ms. McGee's Complaint, the wrongful conduct which allegedly caused the decedent's death was the retained laparotomy sponge, and while the statute of limitations for most medical negligence actions is two (2) years, all medical malpractice actions against UMMC carry a one (1) year statute of limitation pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-46-11. The *Jenkins* Court expressly overruled *Gentry v. Wallace*, 606 So. 2d 1117 (Miss. 1992), which stood for the proposition that "a new statute of limitations for wrongful death begins to run on the date of death, regardless of when the statute of limitations began to run for the underlying tort which led to the death." *Jenkins*, 733 So. 2d at ¶ 8. Consequently, the rule of law in Mississippi with regard to this issue is that, "the statute of limitations on bringing a wrongful death claim is subject to, and limited by, the statute of limitations associated with the claims of specific wrongful acts which allegedly led to the wrongful death." *Id.* at ¶ 12, (emphasis added). *See also May v. Pulmosan Safety Equip. Corp.*, 948 So. 2d 483, ¶ 8 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Jenkins*, 933 So. 2d at ¶ 12). Further, the Court stated that Jenkins was barred from relying on any act of negligence, "which allegedly occurred three years before the Complaint was filed. . . ." *Jenkins*, 933 So. 2d at ¶ 13.

Thus, it necessarily follows that because the one year statute of limitation has expired on Ms. McGee's underlying negligence claim, which arose solely as a result of the retained laparotomy sponge, and because McGee alleges that the retained laparotomy sponge caused Ms. Williams' wrongful death, the wrongful death claim is likewise barred. Consequently, Ms. McGee was required to have filed this lawsuit on or before September 1, 2005. Her failure to do so warrants immediate dismissal with prejudice of this action.

2. WHETHER CASE LAW IS RETROACTIVE, ABSENT SPECIFIC LANGUAGE TO THE CONTRARY?

At the hearing of this matter, Appellee's counsel argued that *Jenkins* was inapplicable to this lawsuit because the *Jenkins* opinion was decided after the death of Laura Williams. The trial court accepted this argument in denying UMMC's Motion for Summary Judgment. This Court has previously held, "all judicial decisions apply retroactively unless the Court has specifically stated the ruling is prospective." *Cleveland v. Mann*, 942 So. 2d 108, ¶ 11 (Miss. 2006) (citing *Miss. Transp. Comm'n v. Ronald Adams Contractor, Inc.*, 753 So. 2d 1077, 1093 (Miss. 2000); *Morgan v. State*, 703 So. 2d 832, 839 (Miss. 1997)). There is absolutely no indication within the *Jenkins* opinion that it was not intended to apply retroactively, and therefore, Appellee's oral argument on this point was, likewise, completely without merit.

VI. CONCLUSION

According to Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc. and its progeny, the statute of limitation for wrongful death actions, such as this lawsuit, begins to run on the date of the tortious injury, which leads to the death. In this case, Latisha McGee, the Appellee, through expert testimony, has linked the alleged wrongful death to the laparotomy sponge which was retained on September 1, 2004. Therefore, pursuant to Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc., the statute of limitation began running on this date, September 1, 2004, and expired on September 1, 2005, nearly three (3) months prior to UMMC's receipt of Appellee's notice of claim letter. Further, case law is to be applied retroactively absent a clear statement that it is prospective. Because Jenkins contains no such limitation, it is applicable to this action.

For the foregoing reasons, the University of Mississippi Medical Center respectfully requests that this Court reverse the decision of the trial court and dismiss this action with prejudice. The

University of Mississippi Medical Center further requests any additional relief this Court deems appropriate.