IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-IA-00909

UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER

Appellant

VS.

LATISHA MCGEE, INDIVIDUALLY, AND ON BEHALF OF THE HEIRS OF LAURA WILLIAMS

Appellees

BRIEF OF APPELLEES LATISHA MCGEE, ETAL.

KATRINA M. GIBBS, MB# GIBBS & MARTIN, PLLC Post Office Box 373 Jackson, MS 39205

Attorney for Appellees

Certificate of Interested Persons

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that he following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this Case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Trial Court erred in denying Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.
- II. Whether *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust Inc.*, 933 So. 2d 923 (Miss. 2006) is retroactive and controlling of this case.
- III. Whether summary judgment on Appellee's negligence claims for actions after November 21, 2005 was appropriately denied.

PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This is a wrongful death case against the Defendant medical professionals employed by University of Mississippi Medical Center (hereinafter referred to as UMC) whose negligence caused or contributed to Laura Williams' demise in December 2004. Her heirs, represented by Latisha McGee, brought suit against UMC for her wrongful death and the Trial Court denied UMC's Motion for Summary Judgment, from which UMC has been granted this interlocutory appeal.

In August, 2004, Laura Williams was diagnosed with both an abdominal mass and a later-found intestinal mass. To remove these cancerous masses, she underwent a total abdominal hysterectomy on or about September 1, 2004. On September 7, 2004, she presented back to UMC with abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting and a diminished appetite. It was then discovered that the doctors from the first surgery had left a laparotomy sponge in Ms. Williams which had become infected. She underwent a second surgery on September 8, 2004 to have it removed.

Thereafter, from October through her death on December 19, 2004, Ms. Williams was for the most part hospitalized.¹. Her health clearly deteriorated after her surgeries in September , leading Dr. Mukund K. Patel, a board certified internist, to

ı

¹Records show hospitalizations from October 21- November 12th and November 14th thought December 19th.

opine that the retention of the sponge used during the surgery directly resulted in an infection and added to Ms. Williams' morbidity. (R.. Supp. 8-9). Dr. Patel recounted her course of treatment in his written opinion and stated that in her final hospitalization (after November 21, 2004), Ms. Williams had to be transferred to the intensive care unit and placed on mechanical ventilation. Despite this measure, however, neurology felt that Ms. Williams had suffered an "anoxic brain injury", i.e. a brain injury that results from a lack of oxygen. She died on December 19, 2004.

On November 21, 2005, a notice of claim letter was sent to UMC on behalf of Ms. Williams' heirs. (R.25) In that letter, the family lists two instances of medical negligence between September 2004 and the date of death, including the retention of the laparotomy sponge and the failure to provide oxygen just prior to Ms. Williams' death.

On or about February 21, 2006, ninety-three days after sending the notice, Latisha McGee filed suit against UMC (R.3). The Complaint alleges two causes of action: medical negligence and Res Ipsa Loquitur. In the first claim, the Complaint pleads that the UMC medical personnel failed to provide medical care consistent with nationally recognized minimal standards. (Complaint, R. 5-7) In the second claim, the Complaint alleges Res Ipsa Loquitur negligence for the retained laparotomy sponge.

On or about July 3, 2006, UMC filed its Motion for Summary Judgment (R.15)

3

which was directed at the Appellee's second cause of action, the Res Ipsa Loquitur claim for the retained sponge. (See ¶¶ 10, 18, 19 of UMC's Motion, R. 17-18) The Motion does not deal with Appellee's general negligence claims which encompass <u>all</u> of Laura Williams' treatment up to the date of her death, December 19, 2004.

Plaintiffs obtained extensions to respond to UMC's Motion because they had repeatedly requested and were not provided Ms. Williams' medical records. These extensions were granted by the trial court (Docket, R. 1.) Plaintiff then responded to the Motion for Summary Judgment on November 30, 2006 (R. Supp. 3) and UMC filed its Reply on January 16, 2007 (R.42). The Trial Court denied the Motion for Summary Judgment on May 25, 2007 (R.50). The Defendant UMC sought an interlocutory appeal of the trial Court's Order which this Court granted (See Order, R.51).

Summary of Argument

When Appellees filed their wrongful death case, based in part on a retained sponge that was negligently left in the deceased, and in part on other instances of negligence prior to death, *Gentry v. Wallace*² was the prevailing law, and Appellees relied upon that ruling to calculate the statute of limitations in this case. Under *Gentry* the case was timely filed. After the case was filed, this Court changed the statute of

ł

ŧ

²606 So.2d 1117(Miss.1992)

limitations in the *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust Inc.*³ case. Appellant UMC argues that *Jenkins* must be applied retroactively and thus, any negligence from the retained sponge claim is barred. In response, Appellee asserts that the Court has the option of determining whether *Jenkins* should apply retroactively or not. The Court should not apply it retroactively because it strips Appellees of part of their claim which other cases on retroactivity have not. Instead this Court should make an exception under the factors outlined in *Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson*⁴ case and apply *Jenkins* only prospectively.

Moreover, Appellees raised other general negligence claims in their Complaint in addition to the res ipsa loquitur claim for the retained sponge. This negligence was raised in their Notice Letter on November 21, 2005 and included not only the retained sponge, but the hypoxic brain injury just prior to Ms. Williams death. According to *Gray v. University Medical Center⁵* Appellees claims for any negligence between November 21, 2004 and the date of death would not be barred.

Standard of Review

A party is entitled to summary judgment only if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, etc demonstrate that there is no genuine issue of material

³ 933 So.2d.923 (Miss. 2006)

⁴404 U.S. 97 (1971)

⁵2008 WL 570430 (Miss. March 4, 2008)

fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. M.R.C.P. 56©. This Court reviews the trial court's grant of summary judgment *de novo* and considers all the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Moore v. Parker*, 962 So.2d 558, 567 (¶30) (Miss. 2007). The application of a statute of limitations is a question of law which is subject to de novo review. *Carter v. Citigroup, Inc.*, 938 So.2d 809, 817 (¶36) (Miss. 2006).

Argument

I. <u>The Trial Court did not err in denying Appellant's Motion for summary</u> Judgment on Appellee's *Res Ipsa Loquitur* claim for the retained sponge.

A. Appellees had timely filed their claim under the prevailing precedent.

When Appellees filed this wrongful death case, in February 2006, the controlling authority on the appropriate statute of limitations was *Gentry v. Wallace*, 606 So.2d 1117(Miss.1992). Under *Gentry*, the statute of limitations for a wrongful death action began on the date of this death itself, in this case, December 19, 2004. Being a Torts Claims Act entity, and subject to Miss. Stat. 11-49-11, UMC was subject to a one-year statute of limitations. Thus, in December of 2004, under the current precedent, Appellees had until December 19, 2005 to provide notice and file suit accordingly.

When the notice of claim required under §11-49-11 is sent within 90 days of

6

the one year deadline for filing suit, the limitations period is extended for at least another ninety days. Thus, when Appellees here sent the Notice letter on November 21, 2005, they appropriately waited and filed suit on February 21, 2006. At the time of the filing of the lawsuit, *Gentry* was still precedent and Appellees had properly filed suit, calculating the statute of limitations from the date of death.

B. Appellee is not bound by <u>Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc</u>. because Appellee's case was filed before <u>Jenkins</u> was decided and <u>Jenkins</u> should not be applied retroactively.

After Appellee filed her suit in February 2006, this Court then rendered its decision in *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc.*, 933 So.2d.923 (Miss. 2006) overruling *Gentry*. The decision was rendered on April 27, 2006, but did not become final until rehearing was denied on August 3, 2006. *Jenkins* changed the statute of limitations in a wrongful death case, so that the statute now began running on the date of the negligence that caused or contributed to the death, not the date of the death itself.

Appellant argues that the holding in *Jenkins* must be applied retroactively and thus, is applicable to this case, requiring its dismissal. However, this Court is not bound to apply *Jenkins* retroactively and such an application to Appellees case offends basic notions of fairness and justice since Appellees had a right to rely on prevailing

case law at the time.

i

ŧ

1.

Appellee appreciates this Court's holdings in Cleveland v. Mann, 942 So.2d 108 (Miss. 2006) and Mississippi Transportation Commission v. Ronald Adams Contractor, Inc. 753 So.2d 1077 (Miss. 2000) cited by the Appellants as precedents for holding Jenkins to be retroactive. However, the facts of the case at hand differ significantly from the facts of these cases and warrant a different result. Cleveland v. Mann dealt with the application of prior precedent holding that patient/doctor agreements affected interstate commerce, so an arbitration agreement between the parties would be enforced. In Cleveland v. Mann, plaintiffs did not completely lose their cause of action against the surgeon they were suing for the death of their relative; plaintiffs simply had to go to another forum to pursue their claim. Moreover, the plaintiff in Mississippi Transportation Commission v. Ronald Adams Contractor did not lose its claim because of a retroactive application of a court decision; in fact, he benefitted from the doctrine. There the Court found that a contractor could sustain his cause of action against the Transportation commission for breach of a public highway contract and because of the retroactive effect of another court decision, he could also collect post judgment interest and statutory penalties.

Unlike these two cases, the retroactive effect of *Jenkins* strips Appellees of a cause of action they had prior to the *Jenkins* ruling, with no other recourse. In cases

such as these, the Court should instead enter in an analysis of the fairness factors discussed in *Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson*, 404 U.S. 97 (1971). ⁶ In *Chevron*, the Supreme Court stated that in determining whether a decision should be applied retroactively, a Court should consider whether a decision displaces a principle of law on which reliance may reasonably have been placed and whether prospectivity is on balance warranted by its effect on the operation of the new rule and by the inequities that might result from retroactive application. *Chevron*, 404 U.S. at 106-107. Given the facts of this case, the fact that *Jenkins* did change the statute of limitations on which Appellees reasonably relied. Moreover, unlike the other retroactivity cases discussed above, Appellees would be totally stripped of a cause of action they had when they filed the case. The inequitable result is clear. Given these facts, the Court

⁶Appellant may argue that the *Mississippi Transportation Commission* case rejected the application of Chevron. There the Court looked at a subsequent Supreme Court decision in James B. Beam Distilling Co. V. Georgia, 501 U.S. 529 (1991). The Court felt that James Beam required that it could not return to the old rule with respect to cases relying on facts predating the pronouncement of the new law. However, with all due respect, the Court misapplied the James Beam analysis to these facts. In James Beam a distillery had sought to recover back excise taxes that the State of Georgia had collected from it. The trial Court agreed that the statute that would tax out of state products higher than in-state products was unconstitutional. But the trial Court would not apply its ruling retroactively so the distillery could collect nothing. James Beam appealed and the Supreme Court said that had already determined that a similar Hawaii statute was unconstitutional and declared that its holding in that case was retroactive, Bacchus Imports Ltd. V. Dias, 468 U.S. 263 (1984). Thus, in James Beam, the Supreme Court was simply applying a ruling it had made in a case that was decided *prior to the filing* of the James Beam case. This is not the case here.

should find that a *Chevron* exception should be made, and *Jenkins* applied only prospectively.

Appellant may raise the Court of Appeals' recent decision in Marvin Brown v. Southwest Mississippi Regional Medical Center, 2008 MSCA 2006-CA-01947 -012908 decided on January 29, 2008 in support of its position. However, that decision should not be cited since it is not final and currently subject to a motion for rehearing. Mississippi Transportation Commission v. Allday, 726 So.2d 566 (Miss. Appellant may also raise University of Mississippi Medical Center v. 1998) *Easterling*, 928 So.2d 815 (Miss. 2006) in support of its position that Torts Claims Act rulings are retroactive. However, the case at hand is factually distinguishable from *Easterling*. There the Plaintiff had totally failed to comply with the Notice provisions of the Torts Claims Act prior to filing suit, despite the language of the statute and rulings of this Court that prior Notice be given. The Appellees here did comply with the statute and with the prevailing precedent of this Court when they filed their suit.

The bottom line is that this Court has the authority to determine whether or not and when to make its rulings retroactive or prospective. In cases like this one, where Appellants lose a valuable claim they rightfully and lawfully had at the time of filing, the Court should chose the proprective route.

II. <u>The Trial Court's denial of Summary Judgment for any negligence between</u> <u>November 15, 2004 and December 2004 was correct.</u>

UMC's Motion for Summary Judgment is based solely on the retained sponge claim. However, in Appellant's Notice letter, Latisha McGee raises other negligence in addition to the retention of the laparotomy sponge. The Notice letter states:

*Ms. Williams consistently found herself in and out of the hospital.

*she was told her cancer was in remission and would disappear but it did not

*there is question of whether she was provided adequate oxygen just prior to hear death on December 19, 2004. (R. 25-26)

In her Complaint, Latisha McGee specifically plead two separate causes of action: The Res Ipsa Loquitur action for the retained sponge, and for medical negligence for the failure of UMC personnel to provide health care services consistent with nationally minimal standards.

Ms. Williams died on December 19, 2004 and when the Notice of Claim was sent on November 21, 2005, the Notice clearly covered any negligence from November 21, 2004 through December 19, 2004 as well as the September sponge retention and Appellees could properly pursue a claim for that later negligence, even if the negligence with respect to the retained sponge was precluded. (See *Gray v. University Medical Center* 2008 WL 570430 (Miss. March 4, 2008) where the Court

į

tallied up and limited the time period for claims of negligence in a wrongful death case). Therefore, even if *Jenkins* is to be applied retroactively, it does not apply to Appellees' claims for negligence between November 15 and December 19, 2004.

Conclusion

This Court has the option of applying its rulings prospectively or retroactively. It is not required to do either, but has the authority to choose the fairest and most equitable approach. Appellee urges the Court to recognize the severity of the retroactive application of the *Jenkins* decision in this case and the inequitable, almost punitive results it obtains. Retroactive decisions in the past have not harmed Plaintiffs, nor stripped them of their claims as would be the case here.

Moreover, the Motion for Summary Judgment was limited to Appellee's Res Ipsa Loquitur claim. Even if its barred, claims for any negligence after the Notice Letter, or negligence between November 21, 2004 and Ms. Williams' death are not. Appellee respectfully requests this Court to affirm the Trial Court decision below.